2006

Kenneth Davis v. Dennis Goldsworthy : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(j) confers jurisdiction on this Court to decide this appeal.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the trial court abuse its discretion in granting Appellee’s Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment and denying Appellant’s Motion for Reconsideration where the only reasoning provided for setting aside the default was the Court’s *sua sponte* assertion that Appellee was not properly served with the Notice to Appear or Appoint, but where Appellee was served with a Notice to Appear or Appoint pursuant to Rule 5(b)(1) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure?

1. Standard of Review: A trial court has broad discretion in deciding whether to set aside a default judgment. Lund v. Brown, 2000 UT 75, ¶ 9, 11 P.3d 277. Though broad, the trial court’s discretion is not unlimited. Id. As a threshold matter, a court’s ruling must be “based on adequate findings of fact” and “on the law.” Id. (citing May v. Thompson, 677 P.2d 1109, 1110 (Utah 1984) (per curiam)). A decision premised on flawed legal conclusions, for instance, constitutes an abuse of discretion. Id.

Moreover, the nature of a default judgment and the equitable nature of Rule 60 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provide further limits. Id. at ¶10. For example, the Utah Supreme Court has stated that a trial court’s “discretion should be exercised in furtherance of justice and should incline towards granting relief in a doubtful case to the end that the party may have a hearing.” Id. (citing Helgesen

v. Inyangumia, 636 P.2d 1079, 1081 (Utah 1981)) Likewise, the Utah Supreme Court has further stated that “if default is issued when a party genuinely is mistaken to a point where, absent such mistake, default would not have occurred, the equity side of the court ... [should] grant relief.” Id. (citing May, 677 P.2d at 1110). Based on these principles, the Utah Supreme Court has stated that ““it is quite uniformly regarded as an abuse of discretion to refuse to vacate a default judgment where there is reasonable justification or excuse for the defendant's failure to appear, and timely application is made to set it aside.”” Id. at ¶11 (citing Helgesen, 636 P.2d at 1081).

2. Issue Preserved at: [R. 374: 9 – 16 (Transcript for Hearing on February 27, 2006, attached hereto as Addendum “1”, pg. 9 -16)].¹ [R. 237:1-5 (Memorandum in Support of Amended Motion for Reconsideration, attached hereto as Addendum “2”, pg. 1-5)]. [R. 275 (Ruling dated March 31, 2006 denying Motion for Reconsideration, attached hereto as Addendum “3”)].

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Nature of the Case. The underlying facts of this case involve Appellant Kenneth Davis’ (“Davis”) claims to real property located in American Fork, Utah County. Appellee Dennis Goldsworthy (“Goldsworthy”) is the present title owner of the

¹ Hereinafter, all citations to the trial transcript shall be designated [R. __:__] indicating page number and line number separated by a colon.

property, having received title to the property through Davis' ex-wife, Edna Davis, who is now deceased. In his complaint, Davis asserts a right to the property through an agreement with his ex-wife and that the transfers to Goldsworthy were in contravention to the agreement and were the result of undue influence and/or fraud. [R. 012].

2. Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below: Davis filed the present action on December 23, 2003. [R: 006]. In June 2005, Goldsworthy failed to appear at a regularly and properly scheduled deposition, and as a result Davis filed a Motion to Compel Goldsworthy's attendance. [R: 066, 089]. Just prior to the hearing scheduled on the Motion, Goldsworthy's counsel requested to withdraw from the case. [R. 108 – 124].

Pursuant to Rule 74 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Davis' counsel mailed a Notice to Appear or Appoint to Goldsworthy via first class mail on September 7, 2005. This Notice was sent to Goldsworthy's last known addresses. [R. 130]. As a result of Goldsworthy's failure to appear on October 14, 2005 at the rescheduled hearing on Davis' Motion to Compel and his failure to attend the properly noticed deposition, the trial court struck Goldsworthy's pleadings and entered default against him. [R. 134]. An order striking Goldsworthy's pleadings was entered by the trial court on November 7, 2005. [R.134].

Based on Davis' Request for a Hearing on Damages and Equitable Relief the Court set a hearing for February 3, 2006. [R. 136]. Notice of this hearing was sent out by the Court on December 22, 2005. [R. 139]. On January 27, 2006, Gregory Hansen filed an appearance of counsel on Goldsworthy's behalf and filed a Motion to Continue the Damages Hearing. [R. 148, 150]. On February 2, 2006, Goldsworthy filed a Motion and Memorandum to Set Aside Default. [R. 156].

At the hearing on February 3, 2006, the trial court granted a continuance of the hearing on damages until the Motion to Set Aside Default could be heard on February 27, 2006. [R. 186]. At the hearing on the motion to set aside on February 27, 2006, the trial court granted the Motion to Set Aside Default based on an issue not raised or briefed by Goldsworthy but raised by the Court *sua sponte*. [R. 222]. On March 3, 2006, responding to the Court's *sua sponte* reasoning for granting the Motion to Set Aside Default, Davis filed a Motion for Reconsideration of the Court's decision setting forth controlling case law setting forth that improper service of a notice to appear appoint is not grounds for setting aside default. [R. 232 – 237]. The Motion was denied on March 31, 2006. [R. 275]. Goldsworthy later filed a Motion to Dismiss, which was granted by the Court on August 7, 2006, and an order entered on September 8, 2006 [R. 364, 370]. A Notice of Appeal was filed on October 5, 2006 [R. 373].

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The relevant facts of this case concern the procedural history culminating in the trial court's decision to set aside the default judgment entered against Goldsworthy. In particular, on December 23, 2003, Davis filed a complaint and amended complaint against Goldsworthy wherein Davis claimed ownership of real property located in American Fork, Utah County. [R. 012:2]. Goldsworthy is the present owner of the property, and received title to the property through Davis' ex-wife, Edna Davis, who is now deceased. [R. 012:2-3]. In his complaint, Davis alleged claim to the property through an agreement with his ex-wife and that the transfers to Goldsworthy were in contravention to the agreement, and were the result of undue influence and/or fraud. [R. 012: 4-6].

On May 5, 2005, Davis noticed up Goldsworthy's deposition, to be held on Monday, June 13, 2005. [R. 066:1]. Goldsworthy's counsel arranged to appear at the deposition via telephone. However, at the appointed time of the deposition, Goldsworthy failed to appear. [R. 166: 2]. On the record, Goldsworthy's counsel confirmed that he had made several attempts to locate Goldsworthy but had been unable to do so. [R. 166: 3]. Accordingly, Davis filed a Motion to Compel Goldsworthy's Attendance at Deposition. [R. 095]. The Court set a hearing on Davis' Motion for September 2, 2005 [R. 105], but prior to the hearing Goldsworthy's counsel filed a Motion to Withdraw as Counsel. [R. 108].

The basis for the Motion to Withdraw was that the Goldsworthy had failed to pay for the attorney services, failed to contact his counsel, and had moved out of the area to an unknown address. [R. 108: 1-2; 111: 1-2]. Neither of the mailing certificates accompanying the Motion to Withdraw as Counsel or the Declaration of James W. Jensen included Goldsworthy's last known addresses. [R. 108: 3; 111: 3]. Indeed, only the Notice of Entry of Order Permitting Withdrawal of Counsel contained an address for Goldsworthy, which was his business address. [R. 127: 3].

Because the Motion to Withdraw as Counsel did not include the last known address of the Goldsworthy, upon entry of the Order permitting Goldsworthy's counsel to withdraw, Davis' counsel obtained Goldsworthy's last known addresses from his former counsel. [R. 375: 11 – 12]. Thereafter, pursuant to Rules 5(b)(1) and 74 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Davis' counsel served a Notice to Appear or Appoint to both Goldsworthy's home and business addresses. [R. 130:3]. At the continued hearing on October 14, 2005 on Davis' Motion to Compel, as a result of Goldsworthy's failure to appear, the Court struck Goldsworthy's pleadings and counterclaim and default judgment was granted against him. [R. 131; 134:1]. Davis' counsel prepared an order reflecting the Court's ruling, a copy of which was mailed to Goldsworthy on October 19, 2005 to both addresses. [R. 134:3].

Because Davis' complaint did not contain a request for damages in a sum certain amount, Davis requested a hearing on damages [R.136], and on December 22, 2005 the

Court set a hearing on the issue of damages for February 3, 2006 [R. 139]. The request for hearing on damages was sent to both of Goldsworthy's addresses [136: 2], and the Court sent notice of the hearing to Goldsworthy's business and home addresses. [R. 139: 2]. The Notice sent to Goldsworthy's business was returned to the Court as undeliverable. [R. 142].

On January 20, 2006, the Court received a letter dated January 16, 2006 from Goldsworthy indicating that he had received notice "from my ex-wife stating there is to be a hearing on February 3, 2006." [R. 146 (Letter to Court attached hereto as Addendum "4")]. Goldsworthy claimed to not have been aware of the proceedings in the case "due to the fact that I no longer live in Utah and now live in Colorado." [R. 146]. Goldsworthy further requested a continuance of the hearing so that he could get time off work and to acquire new counsel. [R. 146]. Immediately prior to the damages hearing, Gregory Hansen filed an appearance of counsel on Goldsworthy's behalf and simultaneously filed a Motion to Continue the Damages Hearing. [R. 148, 150]. The day before the damages hearing, Goldsworthy filed a Motion and Memorandum to Set Aside Default. [R. 156]. The next day, the Court granted a continuance until February 27, 2006 to give the parties time to brief Goldsworthy's Motion to Set Aside Default. [R. 186].

In his Motion to Set Aside Default, Goldsworthy argued that the default judgment should be set aside due to mistake, inadvertence, or excusable neglect due to the fact that:

Defendant was going through a divorce at the time the litigation began, and was required to shut down his business, and move to Colorado. His only stable address was that of his business. When he moved, he had no forwarding address. He had not been able to communicate with his former counsel, Mr. Jensen, since May of 2005, and moved the first week of June, 2005, which was when the Subpoena Duces Tecum was served on his counsel. Defendant's counsel did not inform him of the Subpoena or the deposition, and then withdrew in September of 2005 without informing him of the status of the case. [R. 156: 2 (Goldsworthy's Motion and Memorandum in Support of Motion to Set Aside Default, attached hereto as Addendum "5", pg. 2)].

Goldsworthy further argued that these events were "so distracting and consuming that he neglected to pay attention to the lawsuit." [R. 156:2]. Furthermore, Goldsworthy asserted simply that the Motion to Set Aside should be granted because "Defendant states that the claims made by the Plaintiff in the case are false." [R. 156:2].

In his Memorandum in Opposition to the Motion to Set Aside, Davis argued that pursuant to Hernandez v. Baker, 2004 UT App 462, ¶3, 104 P.3d 664, Goldsworthy had failed to show either excusable neglect or that he had a meritorious defense to the action. [R. 195:2]. Davis argued that Goldsworthy's unsupported statement that Davis' claims were "false" fell well below the requirement that Davis must "present a clear and specific proffer of a defense that, if proven, would preclude total or partial recovery by the claimant." Hernandez at ¶6. [R. 195: 2]. Davis further argued that pursuant to Black's Title Inc. v. Utah State Ins. Dept., 1999 UT App 330, ¶10, 991 P. 2d 607, Goldsworthy had failed to show that he had "used due diligence and that he was prevented from appearing by circumstances over which he had no control." Id. [R. 195: 2 - 5].

On the day prior to the hearing on the Motion to Set Aside Judgment, Goldsworthy submitted a lengthy Reply Memorandum wherein he argued at length that Davis' claims had no merit because Davis had no standing to raise his claims and that there were meritorious factual disputes to Davis' claims. [R. 217]. At the hearing the following day, Goldsworthy presented arguments raised in both his initial Memorandum as well as his Reply Memorandum, despite the Court's indication that it had not received the Reply Memorandum and over Davis' objection. [R. 374: 3 –9].

During Davis' counsel's argument, the Court interjected to inquire as to the method used to serve Goldsworthy with the Notice to Appear or Appoint. [R. 375: 11]. Davis' counsel explained Goldsworthy's addresses were obtained from his prior counsel, and that the Notice to Appear or Appoint was served via regular first class mail to both Goldsworthy's last known home and business addresses. [R. 375: 11 – 12]. Davis' counsel argued that it was Goldsworthy's responsibility to maintain a forwarding address with the Court and that the rules do not require service via return receipt or personal service. [R. 375: 12 – 15]. Because the issue was raised *sua sponte* by the Court and had not been argued by Goldsworthy, Davis' counsel indicated that he was willing to submit a legal memorandum on the issue. [R. 375:12]. The Court, however, ruled to set aside the default judgment, stating simply, "I'm going to grant their motion to set aside the default judgment" [R. 375:16] without making any further findings. Indeed, as part of its basis

for awarding attorney fees the Court informed Goldsworthy that he had “been less than diligent in maintaining contact with your attorneys and this court” [R. 375:16].

Just two days after the hearing, Davis requested that the Court review its decision to set aside default. [R. 224]. In his Memorandum in Support of Amended Motion for Reconsideration, Davis argued that pursuant to Rule 74 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Goldsworthy’s prior counsel was required to include the Goldsworthy’s address as part of the motion to withdraw, and that subsection (b) of that Rule provides simply that Davis should “serve” the notice on the unrepresented party. [R. 237: 3]. Rule 5(b)(1) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides that unless otherwise specified in the Rules, service of documents filed with the Court “shall be made by delivering a copy or by mailing a copy to the *last known address*, or if no address is known, by leaving it with the clerk of the court.” Utah R. Civ. P. 5(b)(1)(emphasis added). [R. 237: 3]. Furthermore, Davis relied on the memorandum decision of Hawley v. Union Pacific Railroad, 2005 UT App 368 (attached hereto as Addendum “6”), to argue that Goldsworthy was not entitled to relief from the default judgment because he failed to fulfill his duty to inform the trial court of changes in his address. [R. 237: 4].

Despite the factual similarities between the actions taken by Goldsworthy and those taken by the Defendant in Hawley, the trial Court denied Davis’ Motion for Reconsideration and ruled that the Motion did “not present arguments that could not have been made in connection with the motion.” [R. 275]. Davis now seeks this Court’s

review of the trial court's ruling to set aside default judgment based upon the arguments set forth below.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial Court abused its discretion in setting aside the default judgment against Goldsworthy because Davis adequately served Goldsworthy with a notice to appear or appoint and because Goldsworthy otherwise failed to show that excusable neglect justified setting aside the default entered against him. Accordingly, Davis seeks an order from this Court reversing the trial court's decision to set aside default judgment against Goldsworthy, and remanding the action for a determination of damages.

ARGUMENT

The trial court abused its discretion in setting aside default judgment because Goldsworthy was properly served with a notice to appear or appoint, the decision was not based on adequate findings or on the law, and Goldsworthy otherwise failed to show excusable neglect. In the preceding below, the trial court granted Goldsworthy's Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment and denied Davis' Motion for Reconsideration based upon the reasoning that Goldsworthy did not have proper notice to appear or appoint because it was known at the time of the withdrawal of Goldsworthy's prior counsel that the addresses on record for Goldsworthy were not current. The Court further denied Davis' Motion for Reconsideration on the basis that the arguments raised in the motion could have been made in connection with the motion to set aside default.

In order to obtain relief from a default judgment under Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure on the basis of excusable neglect, a defendant must show: (i) that the judgment was entered against him through excusable neglect; (ii) that his motion to set aside the judgment was timely, and (iii) that he has a meritorious defense to the action. Hernandez v. Baker, 2004 UT App 462, ¶3, 104 P.3d 664. The basis of this appeal is that as a matter of law, that the trial court abused its discretion in granting Goldsworthy's motion to set aside default judgment.

A. The Trial Court Abused its Discretion in Setting Aside Default Judgment Based on the Decision that Service of the Notice to Appear or Appoint was not Adequate.

As a threshold matter, the trial court erred in ruling that default judgment should be set aside because Goldsworthy was not served a Notice to Appear or Appoint via registered mail or personal service. Rule 74 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides for the withdrawal of counsel and the sending of a Notice to Appear or Appoint. In particular Rule 74(a) states in relevant part that the notice of withdrawal shall include "the address of the attorney's client" and subsection (b) of the same rule provides that "the opposing party shall serve a Notice to Appear or Appoint Counsel on the unrepresented party." Utah R. Civ. P. 7. Of note, Rule 5(b)(1) specifically provides that service upon a party of documents filed with the Court, unless otherwise specified by the Rules, "shall be made by delivering a copy or by mailing a copy to the *last known*

address, or if no address is known, by leaving it with the clerk of the court.” Utah R. Civ. P. 5(b)(1)(emphasis added).

A plain reading of Rule 74 in conjunction with Rule 5(b)(1) does not require either personal service or service via registered mail of a Notice to Appear or Appoint.

Furthermore, the case of Hawley v. Union Pacific Railroad, 2005 UT App 368, directly addresses the issue of whether the method of service of the notice to appear or appoint a sufficient is basis for setting aside default judgment. In Hawley, the Plaintiff sought relief from Summary Judgment under Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 60(b)(6) based on the alternative arguments that he had failed to receive a notice to appear or appoint counsel, and that he was never served with notice of the judgment. In affirming the trial court’s decision to deny Mr. Hawley’s motion for relief from the judgment, the Court held that:

Hawley is not entitled to relief under Rule 60(b) because he did not fulfill his duty to inform the trial court and opposing counsel of any changes in his address nor did he exercise due diligence in keeping himself informed of ongoing court proceedings. See Volostnykh v. Duncan, 2001 UT App 26 (per curiam)(recognizing the parties’ duties to inform the court of any address changes and to “keep themselves apprised of ongoing court proceedings”). Here, Hawley did not inform the trial court or opposing counsel of his new address. Union Pacific received Mueller’s notice of withdrawal but the new address was not listed in the notice, rather it was found in the mailing certificate. As a result, Union Pacific attempted to mail Hawley a notice to appear or appoint counsel to the address provided in the Complaint twice, but both attempts were unsuccessful. Id.

The facts of this case are directly analogous to those in Hawley. In both instances, neither Hawley nor Goldsworthy made *any* attempt to inform the Court or opposing

counsel of a new address. [R. 165:2]. In the present case, Goldsworthy did not even make an attempt to keep his counsel informed as to his address. [R. 108: 1-2; 111: 1-2].

Furthermore, Goldsworthy's own letter requesting a continuance of the damages hearing reveals that he had received notice of the hearing through his ex-wife. [R. 146]. Presumably the second address listed in mailing certificate for the Notice of Hearing is the address of Goldsworthy's ex-wife and because this notice was not returned to the Court as undeliverable. [R. 142]. Of note, a copy of the Notice to Appear or Appoint, Default Judgment, and the Request for a Hearing on Damages were also sent to this address. [R. 130:3; 134:3; 136:2].

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