2006

Kenneth Davis v. Dennis Goldsworthy : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court acted within its direction and properly set aside the default judgment. Mr. Goldsworthy met the requirements of Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure by offering evidence of excusable neglect and other justifications, including the Appellant’s failure to afford Mr. Goldsworthy notice to appear or appoint. Further, the trial court based its decision on adequate findings of fact and of the law. Mr. Goldsworthy also presented a meritorious defense based on the Appellant’s inability to meet the requirements of the statute of frauds should this case be heard on the merits. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the trial court’s decision to set aside default judgment.

ARGUMENT

The trial court did not abuse its discretion when it set aside default judgment because Mr. Goldsworthy met the requirements of Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure by offering evidence of excusable neglect and other justifications, and by presenting and succeeding on his meritorious defense. The court has broad authority to accept reasonable justifications for the defendant’s failure to respond to litigation under 60(b) and should generally act with indulgence toward the defendant. Katz v. Pierce, 732 P.2d 92, 93 (1986). Rule 60(b) allows defendants who through mistake, excusable

neglect, or any other justifiable reason failed to respond to pending litigation to find relief from default judgment. In order to obtain relief from default judgment under Rule 60(b), the defendant must meet 3 requirements: 1) he must make a timely motion; 2) he must meet one of the six reasons offered in 60(b) for failure to respond; and 3) he must have a meritorious defense. Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b), Lund v. Brown, 11 P.3d 277, 283 (2000).

Because the parties do not dispute that Mr. Goldsworthy made a timely motion, this brief focuses solely on whether Mr. Goldsworthy failure to respond occurred based on one of the reasons in 60(b), and whether Mr. Goldsworthy has a meritorious defense.

The standard of review for overruling a trial court's decision to set aside default judgment is abuse of discretion. Granite Board of Education v. Cox, 384 P.2d 806, 807 (1963). This court should find that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in setting aside default judgment because: 1) Mr. Goldsworthy showed excusable neglect under Rule 60(b)(1) brought on by the circumstances of his emotionally draining divorce, his sudden business failure, and his subsequent relocation to Colorado; 2) Mr. Goldsworthy showed reasonable justification for his failure to respond to Davis' motions due to a lack of communication with his attorney and the Appellant's failure to effectively afford Mr. Goldsworthy notice; and finally, 3) Mr. Goldsworthy demonstrated a meritorious defense -- that the Appellant cannot meet the requirement of the statute of frauds to prove a contract existed if his case were to be heard on the merits.

A. The Trial Court Acted Within its Discretion When it Set Aside Default Judgment Because Mr. Goldsworthy Satisfied 60(b)(1) Excusable Neglect and 60(b)(6) Other Reasons Justifying Relief.

In order for failure to respond to a complaint to be considered excusable neglect

under Rule 60(b), the excuse need only be reasonable. Granite Board of Education, 384 P.2d at 807. In fact, it would be an abuse of discretion if a court “refuse[d] to vacate a default judgment where there is a reasonable justification or excuse for the defendant’s failure to appear, and timely application is made to set it aside.” Helgesen v. Inyagumia, 636 P.2d 1079, 1081 (1981) (quoting Mayhew v. Standard Gilsonite Co., 376 P.2d 951, 952 (1962)). Although one court may consider an excuse reasonable where another would not, where a court, after considering the totality of the circumstances, uses its discretion to set aside or affirm the judgment, the appellate court should not reverse, or “substitute its discretion for that of the trial court” even if another motion could have been granted. *See* Warren v. Dixon Ranch Co., 260 P.2d 741, 744 (1953) (finding that even though the trial court could have granted the motion to set aside default judgment, since all elements were considered by the court, the appellate court could not reverse).

1. Mr. Goldsworthy Meets the Requirements of 60(b)(1) Because he Excusably Neglected the Lawsuit Based on the Attending Circumstances in his Life.

A motion to set aside a default judgment is equitable in nature, and therefore the “conscience of the court” requires that the court consider “all of the attendant facts and circumstances” surrounding the reasons the defendant offers for excusable neglect. Granite Board of Education, 384 P.2d at 808. In this case, the attendant facts of Mr. Goldsworthy’s situation show that he reasonably and excusably neglected to respond to the Appellant’s motion for default judgment based on the uncontrollable circumstances in his life. At the time this litigation began, Goldsworthy was going through a tumultuous divorce (R. 210). He did not have a steady home address and had to move during the first

week of June 2005 to Colorado (R. 210-209). After the Goldsworthy's move to Colorado, he was forced to shut down his business in Utah, which had been his only stable address, and had no forwarding address to provide (R. 209). Because of the divorce, his subsequent move, and business failure, Mr. Goldsworthy's attention was entirely consumed and he neglected to attend to this lawsuit (R. 209).

The failure of a marriage can create serious emotional and mental strain on a person. But compounding an emotionally draining divorce with an almost immediate business failure would overwhelm any person, and would reasonably lead to that person's neglect of his other affairs, even pending litigation. Because Mr. Goldsworthy reasonably neglected to respond to litigation under the aforementioned circumstances, this court should affirm the trial court's ruling to set aside default judgment under 60(b)(1).

2. Mr. Goldsworthy Meets the Requirements of 60(b)(6) Because He Had Other reasons Justifying His Failure to Respond to Litigation, Including a Lack of Communication With His Attorney and a Failure to Receive Notice to Appear or Appoint.

Other factors support the finding of excusable neglect in the instant case, or in the alternative, meet Rule 60(b)(6), which acts as a catch-all by accepting "any other reason justifying relief from the operation of the judgment." In Interstate Excavating v. Agla Development Corp., the court set aside default judgment where the defendant did not receive notice of the trial date from his attorney after the attorney's withdrawal from the case 611 P.2d 369, 370-71 (1980). Upon receipt of notice of the default judgment, the defendant immediately contacted his present counsel who thereafter proceeded with diligence to oppose default judgment Id.

In this case, Goldsworthy moved during the first week of June 2005, which was when the Subpoena Duces Tecum was served on his former counsel (R. 210). Similar to Interstate Excavating, Goldsworthy's counsel did not inform him of the Subpoena or the deposition, and then withdrew in September 2005 without informing him of the status of the case. In fact, Goldsworthy had not been able to communicate with his former counsel since May of 2005, before the Subpoena Duces Tecum was served (R. 209). Goldsworthy also did not receive Notice to Appear or Appoint Counsel because it was mailed to an address which Davis' counsel knew was obsolete (R. 218). Because the defendant was going through a divorce at the time this litigation began, he did not have a steady home address and had all his mail sent to his business address (R. 210-209). However, after Goldsworthy's move to Colorado, he was forced to shut down his business in Utah and had no forwarding address (R. 209). However, Goldsworthy, upon discovering that default judgment had been entered in this case, promptly retained counsel and proceeded with diligence to set aside the default judgment (R. 209).

The Appellant argues that because Goldsworthy did not specify that these events were "outside his control," that none of the reasons he supplied show excusable neglect (Appellant's Brief, 18). However, that Goldsworthy moved to Colorado without having a forwarding address, that he had no contact with his attorney, that his attorney withdrew without informing him of the status of the case, and that he did not receive notice to Appear or Appoint counsel, shows that he was unable to protect his rights. Appellant cited Sierra Wholesale Supply L.L.C. v. Radiant Technologies, 2005 UT App. 540, to support the argument that due diligence requires the defendant to show he was unable to

protect his rights (Appellant's Brief, 16). However, unlike Sierra, this case does not deal with sophisticated parties. In that case, a president of a corporation failed to take any steps to protect the rights of the corporation. This case deals with an unsophisticated individual. Mr. Goldsworthy was sued personally, and at the beginning of litigation, was diligent in hiring a lawyer to protect his rights. It was not until his life began to fall apart that he excusably neglected to follow through with the lawsuit.

Appellant Mr. Davis also relies heavily on Hawley v. Union Pacific Railroad, 2005 UT App 368 in his brief and in his denied Motion for Reconsideration, arguing that a lack of notice to Appear or Appoint does not entitle the defendant to relief from default judgment where the defendant does not exercise due diligence. (See Appellant's Brief, 15-16, R. 234). However, this reliance is misguided for several reasons. First, Hawley is not a case regarding the setting aside of a default judgment; rather, it is a case about a defendant seeking relief from summary judgment. Unlike a default judgment, the court in a summary judgment proceeding hears the merits of the case and rules based on the finding of the facts. Unlike Hawley, Goldsworthy did not have the opportunity to have his defense heard on the merits, and, never having received notice to appear, would lose in default. Unlike summary judgment, the law generally disfavors default judgment because it can foster injustice, as none of the merits of the case are heard. Wright v. Wright, 941 P.2d 646, 649 (1997). Second, the defendant in Hawley does not claim that he lacked notice to appear or appoint counsel to the court proceedings (as in this case), but that he failed to receive notice only of the final judgment. Third, unlike Mr. Goldsworthy, the defendant in Hawley offers no extenuating circumstances under 60(b), other than the lack

of notice of the final judgment, to show excusable neglect or another legitimate reason to qualify relief from judgment. Therefore Hawley is inapplicable to the present case and should be ignored.

The Appellant also argues that because the court raised the issue of notice *sua sponte* that the Appellant was not able to effectively argue the issue of notice in connection with the Defendant's Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment (Appellant's Brief, 15). However, in the Defendant's Reply Memorandum in Support of Motion to Set Aside Default, submitted by Goldsworthy before the hearing on February 27, 2006 (where the motion to set aside default was discussed), Mr. Goldsworthy raised this issue himself in his discussion of the reasons to set aside default under Rule 60(b) (R. 213, stating that Mr. Goldsworthy "did not receive the Notice to Appear or Appoint Counsel because it was not mailed to him").

Despite the Appellant's arguments to the contrary, all of the attendant circumstances in this case -- Goldsworthy's divorce, his sudden business failure, his abrupt move, his lack of communication with his attorney, and the fact that he did not receive notice to Appear or Appoint Counsel -- prove that he had a reasonable justification for his failure to appear and respond to the litigation. As stated in Helgeson, the trial court in this case would have committed an abuse of discretion had it failed to set aside default judgment once it considered the all of Mr. Goldsworthy's extenuating circumstances. Although Davis may quibble with what is reasonable and argue that the attendant circumstances in this case do not meet the standard of excusable neglect, as in Warren, this court should not substitute its decision for that of the trial court where the trial court acted reasonably based on the

facts of the case, even if another court may have reached a different conclusion. Because the trial court acted within its discretion in finding that the requirements of Rule 60(b) were satisfied, this court should affirm the trial court's decision to set aside default judgment.

B. The Trial Court Properly Set Aside the Default Judgment Based on Adequate Findings of Fact And Law.

In general, an appellate court should not reverse a trial court's motion to set aside default judgment unless the court's decision was "arbitrary, capricious, or not based on adequate findings of fact or on the law." May v. Thompson, 677 P.2d 1109, 1110 (1984). The Appellant argues in his brief that the court's decision to set aside default judgment was not based on adequate findings of fact (Appellants Brief, 16). Rule 24(9)(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure requires that "A party challenging a fact finding must first marshal all record evidence that supports the challenged finding." *See also State v. Clark*, 2005 UT 75, ¶ 17, 124 P.3d 235. To meet this threshold, a party must "marshal all the evidence in support of the finding and then demonstrate that the evidence is legally insufficient to support the finding even when viewing it in a light most favorable to the court below." Clark, 2005 UT 75, ¶ 17 (internal quotation marks omitted).

Viewed in the light most favorable to the court below, there is enough factual evidence to support the court's legal finding that the requirements of Rule 60(b) are satisfied, and therefore the trial court did not abuse its discretion. In a hearing on the Motion to Set Aside Summary Judgment on February 27, 2006, the court heard all Goldsworthy's arguments explaining why he met the requirements of Rule 60(b),

including Mr. Goldsworthy's divorce, business failure, subsequent move to Colorado, his inability to contact his attorney, and the failure of Davis to serve Notice to Appear or Appoint. (R. 374:4-16). Only after hearing all of these arguments did the court grant Goldsworthy's Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment (R. 374:16).

Davis' counsel argued at the hearing on the Defendant's Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment that if the court dismissed default judgment it would be rewarding those who evade litigation (R. 374:13). Such a statement is simply false. The motion to set aside default judgment does not need to be denied in order to show Goldsworthy that the court does not award failure to respond to litigation. After the court heard all Goldsworthy's reasons under 60(b) to set aside default judgment (R. 374:16), the court stated that these excuses only get Goldsworthy "so far," and that Davis was awarded attorney fees. (R. 375). Mr. Goldsworthy bore the consequences of his actions by shouldering Davis' attorney fees. Most importantly, however, Mr. Goldsworthy presented a reasonable justification for his untimely behavior as required in Granite v. Board of Education and rule 60(b). Therefore, the court, based on the findings of fact, properly allowed him the chance to have his case heard on the merits by setting aside default judgment.

C. The Trial Court Properly Granted Relief From Default Judgment Based on Mr. Goldsworthy's Meritorious Defense.

In order to show that Mr. Goldsworthy has a meritorious defense for the purpose of setting aside default judgment under 60(b), Goldsworthy need not prove his meritorious defense, but must present a "clear and specific proffer of a defense that, if

proven, would preclude total or partial recovery by the claimant or counter-claimant...”

Lund v. Brown, 2000 UT 75, ¶ 29. In this case, the Goldsworthy has met the meritorious defense requirement by maintaining his Statute of Frauds defense, that if proven would preclude recovery by Davis because Davis’ claim of an oral agreement between he and Ms. Davis fails to meet the requirement of the Statute of Frauds.

1. Mr. Goldsworthy Has Met the Meritorious Defense Requirement Because the Davis Has Failed to Meet the Statute of Frauds.

Mr. Goldsworthy presented evidence and argument in the trial court that Davis’ alleged interest in the property is barred by the Statute of Frauds. U.C.A. § 25-5-1. Davis claims that he and Ms. Davis voluntarily transferred the property in question to Davis’ parents in apprehension of divorce, and that he and Ms. Davis had an oral agreement that Davis would receive the property upon Ms. Davis’s death (R. 5). Davis claims further that the transfer from his parents back to Ms. Davis was conditional upon express reaffirmation of the agreement between Davis and Ms. Davis (R. 11).

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